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C O R R E S P O N D E N C E .  

No. 1. 

SEND Home full text of conversations of 1869 between Amir and Mayo, a ~ ~ d  between 
Kabul Minister and others, and rccortl of A~nir's sccrct Council; also text of conver- 
sations of 1873 hetween Kabul Minister anti Aitchison. 

No. 2. 

TELEGI~AM from VICEROY to SECRETARY OF STATE, dated Lahorc, 5th Llecember 1878. 

Yorrn telegram, 5th Dcccmbcr, requiring papers, conversations of 1869. Have tele- 
graphed Calcutta for records ; will send whatever papcrs are fonnd. 

No. 3. 

Foreign Department.-Secret, No. 147. 

T o  the Right I-Ionourable Vrscouwr C I L A N ~ I ~ O O K ,  Her Majesty's Secretary of State 
for India. 

MY LORD, Camp, Lahore, 12th Dece~nher 1878. 
I H A V E  the honour to acknowledge your Lortiship's telegram, dated St11 December 

1878, calling for copies of' various papers connected with Kabul affairs. I enclose 
d~~plicates of :dl the papers which it llas been possible to collect. 

I have, &c. 
(Signed) LYTTON. 

Enclosurc 1 in  No. 3. 

SISCILET COIJNCIT. hcI(1 1)y the A ~ f n  in the FOHT of LAI-IOHK in the Y A M M A N  BURJ 011 the 
1 7th ?\/I arch 1869. 

His I-Iighness the Aruir of Kabul - - President. 
i .  Sy:~d NGr RfIuharn~nad Shah - 
2. Ishak Akasi Shcrdil Khan Men1 hers. 
3. hlirza hluh:~~nmad I-Iussan, Mir Munshi - 

QIII.:STION put by the A M ~ R .  

Sllonld the British inqliirc what is your object and dcsirc, what reply shoi~ld be 
given ? 

IIEIXY given by No. 1 Member. 

" A s  far as possible, nothing should be said which woul(1 indicate want or cove- 
tousness. 13ut only this should I)(- said, that regarding the house of the Britisl~ as your 
own honsc, it was neccss:vy tlli~t you sl~uul(l have exprc,ssed your desirc to meet the 
I3ritibl1 a~itliorit~es, :111d cvince(1 y o ~ r  good-\\ill and friendship towards the British 
(;ovr.rnment; thercfhrc,  you^ I-i~gliness first iutin~ntcd your desire to do so, and having 
1)ccn askccl to conic ovcr, you havc cornc do\w ; that your Highness has been mucl~ 
pleasccl, and has no other ol!jcct than t l~nt  thc i3ritisl1 Govcl.nrnent should treat y o ~ i  with 
patronizing kindness." 
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The Anlir and the second and third Members :-" Yes ; this would he the proper 
re~lv ."  

I J 

lshnk Akasi Shcrdil, the second Member, said :-(( Notwithstanding this, if the 
British authorities should insist and say that your Highness should nevertIIeless sag 
your desires are, and the C;overnment would accede to them, then your Highness should 
say th3.t you are much obliged for the assist~nce which Her Majesty has 

you, without any wish to interfere with your Government. Your Ilighness then go 
on to say that the British authorities should, in the first instance, infbrm you of their 
sentiments, and you would then give a reply." 

The Amir and the other Members approved of this suggestion. 
Syad Nlir Muhammad Shah said-" Should the opening of the Khaihar route and the 

chastisement of the Afridi, Momand and Shsnwari tribes be urged 011 you bere also, as 
the Commissioner of PeshBwar a t  the first interview said to some of our men, that the 
Amir should be persuaded to open out the Khaibar route and to m;tke a road, it should 
be replied that these are matters of minor importance ; the most important matter of all 
should be attended to, which is this : that Russia is daily estending its conquests and 
has come up to the confines of Balkh and Herrit. l ' h r  British Government should take 
measures openly for the protection of those bordcrs ; and you were prepared with your 
heart and property to oppose the Russians for thc sake of protecting vour country and 
in deference to the wishes of the British Government. Lastly, thit your Highness 
would in no way fall short of evincing your good-will and friendship towards the British 
Government.. Let the British Government state the measures they propose to take in 
this n~atter  ; the external enemy should be first attcrided to." 

The  Amir and the other Members coilcurred in, and approved of, this suggestion. 
The  Amir then said--" Shor~ld the British authorities propose that a European Agent 

be stationed at Kabul itself, althougl~ I am myself agreeable to such arrangement, hut 
the people of Kabul arc turbulent and ~niscbievous. Should such European Agent be 
injured in any way, which God forbid, I wo~lld be disgraced. The late Amir, my 
father, on these very considerations, refused to have a European Agent at his capital. 
But if an Agent be located in the interior, at places like Kaudahrir, or Balkh, or Herat, 
shere would be no objection. Such an arrangement would be :~tlvantageous to both the 
Govenlments ; fbr instance, a t  the present time the people of Lower SeistBn ]lave corn- 
menced encroachments on the CandahBr 1)oundaries. Lower Seistriu was formerly always 
attached to Afghinistrin, and has been occupied by Persia only since a short time. We 
are not aware what agreement exists between the British and Persian Governments 
regarding Lower SeistBn. If there should be a European Agent on the border, Ile 
would be possessed of the necessary information, and would be at hand to consult 
regarding atiairs relating to territories beyond the borders." 

All the Members approved of' what thc Amir had said. 
Tbe first and second Members snitl-" Doubtless, thc reply to be given to the requests 

of the British authorities should he to the effect, that the object is to ~n:lintain cordial 
and sincel.c alliance between the two Statcs. Your Highness can accede to the wishes 
of the British Government, only so far as is compatible with the wishes of your people, 
your religion, and your authority, so that nothing may happen at any time opposed to 
the mutual friendly relations." 

6' The policy of your Highness should he in the first instance to a~certain the 
sentilnents of' the British Governlnent. Should the authorities express thernselvcs 

they should be asked to reclurc them to writing. 80 thnt we may discuss the111 
in o m  own Councils, and then you]. Highness could state your views after duc 
deliberation." 

After this the Amjr sent for the treaties entered into between the late Amir and the 
British Government, and per~~sed  them. 

His Migh~lcss then said that he approved of the determination come to i n  the - 
Council. 

1 expect thnt the A n ~ i r  will express himself to the ahovc effect to tbc Governments 
I have ascertained the rcsult of the discussion, and submit the same for the information 
of the Government. 

His Highness individually is a sincere friend of the Government ; but in regard to 
some matters he is suspicious of his brothers aud the tribes. 

(Sd.) X. Y. 
The 18th March 1869. 



Enclosure 2 in No. 3. 

NOTES of thc FIRST MEETING between His Excellency the Vrceno~  and His Highness the 
A ~ f n  OF KABUL, a t  4 P.m., 29th March 1869. 

Present : 
1. His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor-General. 
2. Sir Donald Macleod, Lieutenant-Governor. 
3. His Highness the Amir. 
4. T h e  Minister of His Highness, Ndr  Muhammad, Syad. 
5. T h e  Foreign Secretary, W. S. Seton-Karr, Esq. 
6. Captain Grey. Interpreter. 

AFTER con~l)liments, and an expression of His Excellency's hope that thc Amir had 
heen satisfied with his reception, the Viceroy intimated to him that it wa.; the firm desire 
of the British Government to see established a t  Kabul a j ~ ~ s t ,  strong, and independent 
government, in whose administration the Cjovernment of' lndia would exercise no 
interference, and which shouid not bear the appearance of being maintained mainly by 
extraceous aid. His Excellency added that this \vould, in a great measure, depend on 
the Amir himself. 

The  Amir, for some time, could not apprehend the exact force of His Excellency's 
words, and he ltept on repeating that a great dcal depended on the Go~ernmen t  of lndia, 
:ind 011 the line of policy which it proposed for itself in future ; that he was disposed to 
look to that Government in all things ; and that assistance and support must he open in 
order to be useful. 

After the views of the Viceroy had becn fully and clearly explained to His Highness, 
HIS Excellency told him in pointed language that he must now state distinctly by what 
particular acts of ours we could help hlm to establish a strong and independent rule a t  
Kabul. 

T o  this the Amir rcplied that he had already committed his sentiments to writing ; 
that he had explained his views both to Sir John Lzwrecce and to the present 
Lieutenant-Governor of the Punjab ; and that the friendship with his fhther was a 
" dry friendship " and one-sided ; he seemed unwilling, thoogh rather pressed on the 
subject, to give any more distinct or decidcd expression to his feelings and ~vishes, 
though his Minister a t  last explained that thej- were--?.st, guarantee of Amir and 
fimily against all comers whi!st in actual possession of tlic throne ; sero~id, such present 
assistance in money and arms as could be given. 

His Excellency  gain pressed the Amir to state distinctly the precise lnode in which 
he thought we could llelp him, but he replied in general tcrms. A t  last he broke out, 
and with great vehemence declared that the premature recognition of A z i ~ n  Kharn in 
Novc~nber 1867 had beell the m:tin cause of all the bloodshed and misery which had 
sincc occurrcd ; that Azim Khan : ~ t  that time did not hold the whole of' Afghanistan ; 
that he was not tlic la\\f'~ll ruler ; and that it was our recognition ~ ~ l l i c h  enabled the 
usurper to hold his position for two years. The  tardy recognition of himself in 1863 
seerncd also to rankle in his mint1 ; and in regard to thc trcnty with thc Dost in 1855 he 
snit1 it J V ~ S  a one-sided treaty and ;I " dry friendship." 

Sir Donald MacLeod here obscrved to ine, in English, that he was extremely surprised 
at this statclnent; that hc Ilad been on most confidential terms with the Amir since his 
arrival, and that he had never in any way refcrrcd to thc subject. 

From this Lord Mnyo : ~ t  oncc saw the real objcct of' his visit, which was to obtaiq 
from 11s a pro~nise that in no case would we repeat the policy of 1967, and acknowledge 
a rle .fncto ruler whilc any part of Afghanistan rcmained in his hands. I-Ie declaimed at  
great length on this point, and bcca~ne very exciteti. His Excellency told hiin that 
they wcrc not thcrr t o  discuss past cvcnts; that thcir business was \rith the present, 
antl to providc agrainst evils for the futurc. 

A t  length, after some hesitation and conversation in Pushtu with his Minister, Nur 
Muhammad, hc dcclnred that it was his e;~rnest wish that the Government of India 
should recognize and a c k n ~ w l c d ~ c  not only himsclf but his lineal succcssors, or 

successors in 1)lood (nznn-wa-arcfad-i-~na7t*), and this " 1Vtvln11 11(1'd .YIL,~/<IPI, or ~ c ~ i c r ~ ~ t i n l l  
to f icn( 'r :~t~on phr.ise hc rcpeatcd scveral times with grcat earnestness 

and emphasis. H e  explained itgain, and at  some 
length, thilt to acl~nowlcdge tllc ruler pro tent.  ant1 de .fbcto was to inkite competition 
tbr a. thronc, :u~d cxcitc thc hopcs of all sorts of caotlidatcs ; that if the British Govern- 
mcnt woulll recognize hi111 an(1 his (lynasty thcre was notliiug that he would not do in 
ordei. to evince his gratitude, anti to cornply with the wishes of the Indian Government 
ill any particular antl support tllc~n with his Ineans and his life, it bcing understood that 
the slightest failurc on his or his descendants' part should vitiate all engagements on ours. . - 



The Viceroy here remarked that it was irllpossiWe to prophesy or to 
events, that we must deal with the present, and that His Highness could not him to 

enter into cngagenlents as to n state of circumstances which never occur. 
At  another period of' the discussior? he urged that friendsllip between nations and 

states could not reinain l~idden ; and that t ; ~  Inan might just as try to extinguish 
sun I)y putting his hand befhre his fact; that w l ~ n t e ~ e r  assistance w;ks afforded to hiln 
by the British Goverlrlrlent coultl not remain concealed, a r~d  WOUI(l lose itS value if it 
cbuld, but must 1)e knowil to all States in India and Asit). 

T o  this His Excellency replied that lnystery or concealmellt was the last. course llc 
should ever take ; that the acts of the British Governnlent rnust have shown His 
Highness that our friendship for him was open and warm ; that his predecessor had, at 
a most critical ulornent, supl~lied him with money and arms ; and that he himself had 
publicly admitted that to those acts he mainly owcd his throne; that the splendour and 
consideration with which he had been received at  Ulnballa would show to the world the 
estimation in which he was held; and that we had no intention to deviate from the 
course which \ire had adopted since he had last regained his throne ; that we desired to 
see him firmly establishecl as Ruler of' Kabul; and that he should speedily establish 
tranquillity and good government throughout all his territories. 

The  Amir then said that the tranquillity of the country, which tlie Viceroy had so 
111uch at heart, would be the natural consequence of the security of his power and 
tlynasty, and that all things, including the increase of trade (which results from the 
prosperity and wealth of a nation), which the British Government might deeire, would 
follow from the establishme~lt of a firm and permanent gover~~ment. 

After much conversation of this character, it was arranged that the Viceroy should 
send the Amir a letter the next day, in which the desire of the Govern~nent of India 
for a strong and inclepe~ldent rule would be set forth, as well us its deep interest in the 
affairs of AfghjnistBu, and its personal recognition uf, and friendship ibr, himself; and 
he mas informed that the Government, as circumstances would permit, would consider 
how, without direct interference, it could aid him in this paramount object-the formation 
of a strong and independent power. 

This assurance seemed partly to satisfy him ; and he was altogether, at tl~is part of' 
thc conference, in a different frame of' mind after the above incident than be was at first, 
when he seemed suspicious that our expressions n~eant more than appeared or than hc 
understood. 

His Excellency theu tlirectetl his attention to trade and colnmerce, and the facilities 
of intercourse I,etwecn India and Afghjnistri~~, the Amir always replying that tri~dc 
had been much irrlpaired and interrupted by intestine wars, and that, with order and 
harmony, trade and comrnerce would flourish again. 

As regards routes illto India, he announced l ~ i s  de~erniination of' reviving the subsidy 
laid to the Khaibaris, and raising it to what i t  had been in t l ~ e  time of his fither. He 

that besides the route into 111tlia by the Khaibar Pass there are two other routes i l l  

the same range ~:.hicll turned off before the locality where the Ichaibaris hat1 the powcl 
of' stopping the traffic; and there was also a road tl~rough the Kurratn Valley, 
another olle i n t o  the Dzrajit ; " 'ratinn " and " Kur~lppa " thl.ou&ll L ~ C  Momunds, ~vhose 
chief' was collnecte(~ with hlln by marriage, and undcr his cntirc ~nflue~lcc, ant1 which ]la(' 
alr;Lys beell safe ; the " I'si\val,," which he hoped to I-elder p~.actic:ablc ; the " (i\yal~.Yri," 
which could l ~ o t  do rnLlch iu, but which was only the Povinclah Pass, and always hat1 
been, and \vcluld be: traversed by those nlerchants with thc st~.ong rigllt hand. 

He spoke of the roads lrldillg to rI.~lrkist,Jn, rccom~nending that vid 
F;alldnhJr and Hcr i t  as safi alld easy throughout its length. All ~ O U ~ C S  through the 
I'al.opalnisus we1.C Sufi., but "cry (1ifictllt till they reacl~cd the plains 0.f Balkh. <Ihc 
Klrulunl or 'rishkul,ghJn (Big route, however, was habitually travclsed, alld, " 

the shortest frolrl Kabul ant1 l'eshiwar, woultl reccivc his attention. 
these \vould be kept open. He added th;u the custolrl dues ha11 fbllel1 "' 

imlnenselg the time of his fhther, owillg to these co~ns,otions and this warfhre, 
tilDt hr lloped t,hey might again rniscd to their ancient figure, which put at in Or 

30 lakhs. 
[-lc \ras then toltl tllat (;overrll~lcllt of Intlia wishctl to prcscnt L v i t h  

;IrtillerJ., allcl he was whctlrrr 1le \vould prefer n field llattery or t\ro slep' gullS 
and a howitzer. [-Ie exprcssrd a grear desire fbr Q , - ~ ~ ~ / , - l o a d i ) ~ g  gulls as ~trilcil '~ tcrn'r 
into his enemies. 

His Excellenc.~ told h im  that the Ciovernment would cor~side~. the mattcr. - - 
.I 

' rhc interview ended. 



Enclosure 3 in No. 3. 

MEMORANDUM on CONVERSATIONS held with the Confidential Minister of His Highncss 
the A R I ~ R  SHERE ALI by Captain GREY, on Special Duty with His Excellency the 
VICEROY, on the 31st March 1869. 

THE Amir is prepared to act on what he may see is the nature of the friendship the 
British propose to afford him-if, as hitherto, merely acknowledging the ruler of Kabul 
&.facto, well and good ; b ~ ~ t  if prepared to acknowledge and support him and the heir he 
may point out (acknowledges thilt any such r n ~ ~ s t  be tllstinctly brought forward now, the 
contrary having produccd the present troubles), there is nothing he will not :lccetle to. 

He is open to any proposition for securing liis northern border ; while doubtfill of any 
Rllssian Power for aggression for some years to come, still thinks precautions should bc 
taken ; would construct forts on his own part, or under our superintendence, and admit 
European garrisons if cver desired ; would gladly see an Agent or engineer supcrintendent 
there* (in Balkh), Herat, or anywhere but actually in Kabul, which might lead to the 
supposition of his being a puppet. There would be no dnnge~. for such, did they respect 
the AfghAns and themselves, and AfqhLn enmity is far more bitter ag;~inct Pcrsians and 
their friends than ever it was against. 11s at  the bitterest ; and, with us acting as their 
friends, they will co-operate with a hearty fiiendshil) and energy i n  the ficld which we can 
little imagine. Our troops would have no  work save in the actual shock of battle ; every 
other military duty would 1)c performed, nnd requisites supplicti so effectually that no 
thought or precaution on thc p1.t of colainns or garrisons of ours would be required. 

With regard to the western frontier he leaves it to  our sense of our own dignity and his to 
oppose this infraction of thc treaties of IH56-7, and rectif; thc border between Ghain 
and Lash Jowain to twcnty farsangs (a farsang is three and a half miles) west of the 
latter, as it has been since the days t l ~ a t  Dost M:lhomcd recaptnrr.d Ka~!dahar and its 
appanages fiom Kol~en Dil 'Khan. He wonlti require nothing but arms and treasure, and 
would hiillself act asninst the Pcrsians, thus s h o w i ~ ~ g  his sincerity and the noo-existcnce 
of relations between himself and the111 ; he merely would ask that, under the terms of the 
treaty, we would, on reference to us, sr~pport him in objcctit~g to its inrraction by the 
Persians. Thc  aggression is formidable from the coinmanding positions assumed on the 
com~nunications, not from thc vnlnc of the tract itself. 

With rcqard to the c:~stcrn b o ~ ~ l c ~ . ,  11(. woultl undcrt:~lic to r~~aunge all the Bcrdooran 
t,ribcs. Hc proposcs to iotxodr~cc :i tho~.cugh rcthrn~ int,o his :~dmi~~istt*ation, whereby his 
sons will not bc indcpendc~~t princes as undcr [hc Dost, but governors of'provinccs ;t and 
being tuorc directly subordinate :111(1 wcakcr., will me~.ely co l l c~ t  aud remit his rcvcnucs 
and carry out his amclioral.ion policy of direct collection and cash paymentu ; the effects 
of this will eve~~tual ly  cxtend to thc tribrs ; mcaawhilc he will make their principal men 
his own by allowanccs, and will also, I)y forcc if necessary, check every further attempt 
to givc us trouble. 

With regard to trade, he will undert:~ke to make thc principal r.outes safc ; thosc of the 
l'aropamisus are so;  the Herat route always was so ; :~utl  though the Khulum onc is a t  
present clo:,ed, his troops will clcnr Tulthtapoo~ on his r c l ~ ~ r n .  Through thc Sulimanee 
llange lie will secure the I<liait)ar, Tatara and the Gwdcyri route t)y " Mowajibs " 
(allowanccs). H c  recalls to t,hc mint1 of the Govcrn~ncnt how t,hat when Ynkoob Khan's 
mother's \)rother, Si5adut I<han, was co~nplnined against mercly by the Coinmissioner of 
IJesh;iwal. he re~novcd him, confined him, ant1 hc tlicct in confinc~ncnt, ant1 the substit,ution 
of a safc Illan ltcpt nlauy tho~ts:u~d Mol~~nnucls o ~ ~ t  of the fi.;~y (A~ntjela). I-Ic :~ppeais to 
t,his specimcn of what hc was wi l l i~~g  to and coulrl do U T ~ I C I I  not [)i)und to the Government 
in any way, as a proof of thc fr ic~~dship hc can now displ>tj7. 

Whcn the Lic~~teaant-Crovcr~~or of the l'a~!jnb sent him written questions, he dici not 
know his ground, and ans\vcr~(l cvasiv~ly ; IIC tipcnlis ollenly m ~ d  specifically ; his 
wish is to return hearty fi.ienclsliip with c:ntirc conficlcnce, and puts himself at  the disposal 
of thc Governnient,. I-Ic 11i111sclt' Ins throughol~t sougl~t 0111. frien(ls11ip ; had it been 
rxtended thrco ).ears ago, whcn thc reasons wl~ich holtl gootl now were equ:~lly strong, 
when his own case was bcttcr, and his causc stronger, three y-ears' affliction would havc 
been spared. Whcn the 1V:lzir rccommcnded him, nftcr t.hc 1.cfusal or' 1867, to try oncc 
again, he tletermined he would not till he hat1 rccovereci I<ahul for hinlseif, hc did so, ant1 
thcn he wrote ; no\v it is afforded he will show himself worthy of it. He will, with our 
Ilelp, arrange t,he country somc\vhnt, and then commencc any internal mcasures we may 
wish and receive any officers we nlay desire. 

(Signed) H. GREY. 
(True Copy.) 

(Signed) W. S. SETON-KAI~R. 
- . - ~ . 

* 011 the norther11 1)ordcr. . . t This he hns do~le. 



Enclosure 4 in No. 3. 
NOTES of a C~NVERSATK)N held a t  UMBALLA on 1st April 1869 ; Present MR. SETON- 

KARR, Foreign Secretary ; MAJOR POLLOCK, Commissioner of Peshawar ; sYm 
NUR MUHAMMAD SHAH, Minister of the Amir; MR. THORNTON: Secretary to 
Government, Yunjab ; and MR. GIRDLESTONE, Under Foreign Secretary. 

THE Minister begall t h ( ~  conversation with saying that he ,thought we aisiled him to 
I. Whnt ore His Higbn~ss' N ~ S I I C S  with commit hilnself. The Commissio~ler and the Foreign 

rcferencr to t,rade between India and Af- Secretary took considerable p i n s  to re-assure hirn. 
ghlinist5u. T h e  Minister then said-'6 You have given us guns, 
treasllre, kc., kc .  You woul(l not do SO without some special motive. what is 
motive?" The  Secretary answered--" I n  order that the Government on our borders may be 
independent and strong, just as Kashmir and Nepal are." As a ,,roof good inten- 
tions, the late policy w ~ t h  respect to the Kashmir succession was explained to the 
Minister. Upon this the Minister said that he accepted the explanation, and would not 
credit a s  with ulterior motives. He hoped r e  should have a good and 
the advantage of i t  to us would be that were the Iiussinns or other enemy to colne, even 
though the AfghAns of themselves could not successfully keep them out of their country, 
they could harass them in every way. The fact of the good understanding will spread 
fast over Asia. T e n  thousand will know it this year ; twenty-thousand next year, and 
then a lakh, and so on. " We know tlie Russians," he continued, '&to be great tyrants, 
" and not so trustworthy as you. In  old days in Afghdnistan you showed a want of' 
" consideration to those who were most entitled to it." I?rom the public reccptioll at 
which he was present the othcr night he saw that this policy had been put aside, and 
that little Native princes of the Punjab, such as he had met, were fairIJ and honourably 
treated. " You do not want our country, and, were you to get it, there would be no " profit to you." 

Referring to the first question, the Minister said tha.t kingcraft belongs to Kings, and 
trade to traders ; but still the more trade prospers the great,er will be the custolns dues of 
the Kings. Any road by which we wish traders to pass to and fro into his couiitry shall 
be maintained and be kept safe. T h e  horses of Afghtinistrin go mostly to Bombay and 
Bangalore ; they are passed hy Corlin~ittecs into the Government service, and comma~ld 
prices from Its. 500 to Its. 600. The horse trade with Peshtiwar has f:tllcn off con- 
siderably owing to a less demand. If the merchants in one year sell a thousand at 
Government prices, a second year they would probably send fifteen hundred ; and on the 
contrary, if no remounts were required fbr a year or two, merchants would have to sell 
their horses to private individuals for smaller sums. 

At Mr. Thornton's request, under instr~~ctions from the Lieutenant-Governor, the 
was put whether the Amir would object to the establishment of a public post 

for the benefit of traders and others. The Minister answered that there would be no 
objection whatever. 

I t  is the wish of the British Government that on his return to Kabul the Amir, as soon 
as circumstances will permit, should indicate the passes which might be most adaptcd for 
trade, and should consider how lie could make them safe ant1 practicable, and thc British 
Government, on receiving intimation to the above cffect, will give general pul)licity to 

the same for the trading public. " I11 the \\lay of 
This re~nnrk of the Ministerwas 1 ) ~  tllc :' friendliness, and not in the way of enlmity, 1 (]read 

may. " oIle thing." a You are," he said, " so very parti- 
r' cular and exacting. I make a pl.omise, and then, supposing I do not perform it to the 
g r  dsy and hour, you arc down upon me at once, and keep on writing letters to spur me 
(' on. I may have been breaking my hrart probably to keep to 111y word, I~ut yo11 r i l l  

allow nothrng for change of circumstances." 
The Minister referred to his answer alrcatly given to the Punjab Govcrnmcnt, that 

w,,il+, tl,p do, far ivl~en the Amir returned he would do all in his Power 
bin illflllenco exbods,  to keel, the wilt1 to conciliate the tril)cs ;md kcep thr ~cople  in order, 
tribes of the frontier in ordthr ? an(] sai(l he considered t l~is the best :lnswcr w'lich 

could be By forbeal.ance with the tribes ctinfidcnce will 1)e instilled nslon%st t,11em9 

6. but it is of no use for you to take n si.ick on one side and we 011 the othel'." 'J'he Amir 
is rcady to encourage his sul;jects to resort to the fair at Pcshfiwar. 

The Millister was told that if present,ly the Amir liked to send any of his great Minirters 
in n private capacity to England, every facility should bc sl~own, so that thry 'night 
everything of interest. Ir was quite porsihle, he was told, that the British (~o~crnrnCs t  
wollld appoint an officer in attcndancr, if Inen of rank went, ;ind might colltl'ib~tc 
thing towards the cost of' the virit. There would 1)e no fear that religious inflL1encc 
would be brought to bear on ally pelrons going. Also the British ~ o v e r n m e n ~  



for\val.d thc education of any young AfghLus whom the A ~ n i r  might wish to send for 
thc p~wpose of leari i in~ our mi1itar.y system, our manufactures, the science of telegraphy, 
 railway^) $c. T h e  Minister said hc would s l ~ e ~ l k  to the Alnir. T l~ i s ,  he said, might 
~erf'ect our " Amezisli" or intercoursc, anti those who l ~ a d  visited England would come 
back, con~prehendiilg tlle benefits of' our civilization; and so there would be a greater 
binding of the two nations. But  lie would take the A~iiir's views clcarly on this, as the 

were his own sentiments only. 
The Minister remarked that he did not wish to commit himself, and asked rather 
111, would tllc ~~~i~ en,lction anxiously whether European ~Igeiits were intended, 

Agents in Afghhnistrin either as visitors or observing, a t  the same time, that it was no use to  
as ~erlnancnt residents, supposing t l ~ c  send any but Muhammadans; Hindus were of no 
British Government wished it. good at  all. H e  begged that his reply might not be 
put on papel.. H e  said that he first distinctly wished to ascertain the Amir's sentiments. 
He mentioned that there was now a man uamed " UnwSr " at  Kandahar, who supplied 
inforrnatioli to the officer (Sir H. Green was the name he gave) on the Scinde frontier. 
But he added 11e was looking far forward, and the day might come when the " Russ" 
would arrive and the Amir would be glad not only of British Officers as Agents, but  of 
arms and troops to back them. 

T h e  Minister, on being told that the British Government would allow Afghhns to come 
into India, to Rurki, Lahore, Calcutta, &c., to learn our arts and trades, answered that  
he would consult the Amir. 

T h e  Secretary remarked that in this morning's conversation he had reserved nothing, 
and had nothing to reserve, to which the Minister answered that he was in precisely the 
same condition, and that in fact, since the interchange of civilities, he felt as a man might 
fecl who had changed his religion. 

(Signed) C. GIRDLESTONE, 
Under Foreign Secretary. 

[iVote.-In the Govcr~lment of India Enclosure of 10th May 18'77, sending home m Extract of above, 
Captain Grey was ~nentioncd ay having been present at this conversation, but this wna apparently a clerical 
error.] 

Enclosure 5 in No. 3. 

MEMORANDUM of a CONVERSATION held a t  UMBALLA on April 3rd 1869. 

Present : 
W. S. Seton-Karr, Esquire, Foreign Secretary. 
Syad N 6 r  Muhammad Shah, Rlinister of the Amir. 
T. H. Thornton, Esquire, Secretary to Government, Punjab. 
Ma,jor Pollock, Commissioner of Peshhwar. 
Charles Girdlcstonc, Esquire, Under Foreign Secretary. 

R I C P ~ R R I N G  to thc points which werc reserved in the conversation of April lst, 1869, 
thc Minister said that there was no occasion to include Ghazni as a place of residence 
for a British Agcnt, as Ghazni was included in Kabul. T h e  Amir was ready to have 
a writer to accompany hi111 wherever lie moved, and to allow of men in TurkistSn and 
Ballih, when the country was more scttlcd. The  Minister himself considered Unwar, 
the prcscnt news-writer at  I<andah6r, to  he " a  thorough rascal." Any Agents so sent 
wcre to bc mcrcly for tbc sake of sellding intelligence. The  great danger of' these Agents 
was, unless thcy wcrc trcated as thcy wished, they vilified the Government in their 
reports. AS an instancc, hc quoted that when the Amir was defeated at  Kandahhr, 
Azim I<I1;ln scnt to Uilwar khillats, money, &c., and in return Unwar wrote false 
accounts of Shcrc Ali's proceedings, and flaming reports of Azim Khan's power and 
SIICCCSS. & '  If you (lo not bclicvc I ~ c ' , "  hc urged, " send for tlie diaries of that period 
from Jncoha1)acl." 11. long as the Amir gave tlie news-writer dilrisa (smoothed him 
do\vn)  it was a11 very well. II'ith thcse reservations the British Government has full 
power to S C I ~  ~le~\~c-writers. Jf any ncws-writer was pcrsonnlly offensive to the Amir, 
thc Sccrctary explained, of' course thc Government would not continue him in his post 
or insist on his retention. 

l'he Minister, on briny aslzed whether the Amir wished to  send Afghiins to learn 
tr:1dc5 nntl so forth at Rurki  lid otllcr placcs in our territory, answered cartly, " i t  can~lot  
" I)c done, you might write :L whole 1)ook ol' ol~jections about it, hut if ever we change 
" onr minds on this sul!jcct w e  will let you know. T h e  Amir has personally no 
" ol),jcction, but fcnrs the interpretation his pcople might put on the arrangements. T h e  
" fruits of thc Amir's visit to the Viceroy cannot be properly understood yet by 
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" Afgh;i,t~s. Thev would understaiid the aid given to their Sovereign to be conditional 
on Afgll;in youths being Anglicieed." The  same reasons apply to sending A ~ & A ~ ~  

to Earope. After a few years, as suspicion gets dissipated, the Amir, if he thinks fit, 
will intinlate his desire for Inen being sent. " Just think," he said, " a short time ago 

such pn interview as has taken place \vould never have entered into any one's 
a imagination. It has happened, what more can be said? And who could have 

expected, a year since, that I should have been sitting here alone, talking in a friendly 
manner to  four English Officers." 

(Signed) CHARLES GIRDLESTONE, 
Under Foreigu Secretary. 

At the close of the interview the Foreign Secretary took the Minister apart alld 
clearly explained to him His Excellency's instructions, that under no circun~stances was 
t.hc Amir to expect that British troops would cross the border to put clown civil war or 
lomestic contention. 

This intimation was repeated to the Minister by thc Foreign Secretary at a subsequent 
i!lterview, and the Minister's reply on both occasions was clear and satisfactory as to the 
Amir's full understanding on this point. 

(Signed) W. S. SETON-KARR, 
Foreign Secretary. 

Enclosure 6 in No. 3. 
NOTES of the SECOND MEETING between His Excellency the VICEROY and G o v e ~ ~ o n  

GENERAL and the A M ~ R  of KABUL, held at 4 o'clock p.m. on the 3rd of April 1869, 
after which the Awin took his final leave of His Excellency. 

Present : 
His Excellency the Viceroy and Governor-General. 
The  Amir Shere Ali Khan. 
The Honourable Sir D. Macleod, Lieutenant-Governor. 
Syad NGr Muhammad Shah. 
1'. S. Seton-Karr, Esquire, Foreign Secretary. 
Major F. R. Pollock, Commissioner, Peshdwar. 
Captain Grey, Interpreter. 

TIIE Governor-General commenced by expressing his satisfi~ction at finding t l~at  his 
letter had gratified the Amir : to this he entirely assented, and much 
gratitude. 

The Governor-General then  aid that he trusted that thc Amir would, when he had 
established himself in his Government, be able to assist in promoting the peace of the 
frontier, which the Amir promised hc would do, sooner or later, according to his ability. 
As regarded the publication of my letter, he said he would, on reaching Kabul, or about 
a month hence, make it generally knowl~, and explained that it would be impossible and 
undesirable to keep it secret from all in Afghinistin, high 01. low. He thought that we 
had better wait till then, which thc Governor-General agreed to do, observing that it 
was most desirable that a t  some very early period the exact truth should be known to 
all States. He then said that thc AfghLns, though suspicious at first of relations wit11 
the British, must now be pleased, but that tlicy were a stupicl race ; but, any way, he 
woulcl "drive if he could not lead them." He o1)scrvcd that " you could not take in 
" wisdom (ak l )  as you could sustenance-by cating a loaf of hread ;" also he said that 
his neighbours, Persians and Russians, who had not hitherto interfered with him, m$ht 
become the aggressors on learning that he had attached himself to us,-this was the 
first time he had mentioned either Russian or Pcrsian LO the  overn nor-General,-whell 
the Governor-General expressed his hope that he would strive to spread civilisati()ll 
among a people .o distinguished for courage, high spirit, and sapci ty ;  and quoted 
ourselves as an example of how a nation, 1)y cultivating the arts of both war and peace! 
might rise from barbarism to the utn~ost  heights of civilisatio~l. The Amir xl)lie(i that 
it rested with Providence ; that God had indeed fitted z,,y thus to improve, but had malle 
the AfgMns, notwithstanding their many ~ o o d  qualities, crassly stepid ; hilt that Ilc 

was one himself, and knew how to inanage then]. The Viceroy explained to *Inir 

that, powerful as the 13ritish Governnlcnt was in Illdin, it had to regard the wishes of ihc 
Queen and Her Ministers at hunie, as well i a  the will of the nation, as expressed in 



Parliament. After some explanation hc seemed to talie this in. I t  was therefore [nost 
(Iesirable that His Highness shou!d evi~lce an interest in maintaining peace and 
encouraging trade, 110th of which would be gratifying to the Britisl~ peoplc. His 
Excellency also explained that, a t  this nlolncnt, I<ngland was on most friendly terms 
with all European Powers, and that therc was 110 probability of any misunderstanding 
which could result in war. H e  t!ien very shrc.~\vdly rema1.1ced that, with such terrible 
engines of war as \vere now inventecl, nations 11roi11d 11ot engagc l~astily in hostilities. 

The  Governor-General then pointetl out Major Pollock as thc channel for communi- 
cation, which he trustcd would be firequent ; and the Amir saitl be rcgarded hiin as a 
near neighbour (hams(isya). 

His Excellency introduced the sut)jcct of thc sacccssion, and said it would afT'o1.d the 
British Government much satisfaction to bc 111adc aware of the heir rvhoni the Arnir 
might nominate, so as to avoid contentions for the f i~ tu l c  ; to which the Amir pointedly 
replied that he would infor111 him on that head by letter on reaching Kabul. 

The  Governor-General then dismissed the Arnir m i ~ h  best wishes for his return journey 
and success. 

(Signed) \V. S. SETON-KARII. 
The 4th April 1869. 

Enclosure 7 in No. 3. 

&~EMORANDUJI of CONVEIISATIONS between the I;olterc~ S e c n r : ~ ~ i c ~  and KABUL ENVOY 
on the 19th and 20th July .1873. 

THE Envoy was recluested to state specifically the various points on which he wanted 
intbrmatio~~ or an explanation. His remarks, with the Secretary's replies, are given 
below :- 

1. The  Envoy drew attention to  tlic passage marginally quoted, in Earl Granville'~ 
Despatcl~ of the 17th Oc~ober  1872, and observed 

"As they ( i . ~ . ,  Brit,isli Govcrnlnent) that, the ol),ject of the correspondence betweell 
consider it of illlpoltancc I)otll for RllSSia England being to secure alld 
m:lintcnancc of pence a l ~ d  trnnq~~illit,y i n  
~ e n i ~ . a l  Asin," ‘kc., k c .  tr(iltquillity," he would wish it lo be distinctly 

stated that tlic exprcssion referred merely to external 
relations and not to the internal affairs of Af'gl1:inistAn. That, for instance, the absence 
of security of life and propert,y in Afgh:i.nistlin itself .would not be held to co~~s t i t u t e  a 
condition of affairs that aould invalidate t.lle n r r ange~~~cn  t cnteretl into between llussia 
:~nd England. The  Envoj. wislied it to 11c clcarly understood that the condition of 
affairs alluded to by the expression i n  qucstion shoul(1 be held to be .jir.rt, that the 
countries on 130th sides of the rccognizcd fronticr shoulti abstain from interference witt  
each other either in thc wny of actual :~ggi.ession or by proceedings liable to cause each 
other :Lnnoynuce; secoitd/y, thot thc Afkh5ns sliould bc allo\vcci to follow their own 
laws and customs in t,licir o\vn territories ; thirtl(y, that thc in t e r~~a l  administration of the 
States ou both sides of thc fi.ontier shonld 1)e frec from intcrfercnce. 

A)tsti.er.-Tlx Secretary rcplicd that in llis opinion the expression alluded to embraced 
all tlicse t l ~ i ~ l g s  and had n o  refe~.encc to the i~~tern:ll  condition of the col;ntries on both 
sic!es oi' the [)order. In a11 co~nmu~iications ho\\c.rcr that may titkc place nrith lEussian 
ofiicials or sul?icct,s, the Secretary atlded t,h:~t it \roitld be advi~able for t l ~ e  Amir so to 
fixme his co~n~~iuoications :~nd  procccclings ns to proinotc ~nutual  trust and confidence. 

2. Alluding t,o a fi~rther passage* in the saiiie despatch fro111 Earl Granville, the 
Envoy observed that I-lis Lordship used the word 

* IIcr RI:~,jc.ety's Crovc~.r~mrnt l)clirvc 
1Ii11t it is I I ~ W  in tlre po~vcrol'tlic liussinll 

claitns, ~vliich is not applicable to ail a~sertion of 
~;ovl ,rnmcnt ,  l I y  c.xl,licit, I . l , cogl l i l ion  Of rigllts over territory of which the Amir has actual 
~ I I C  right of' I I I C .  Alnil of J<:II,III ttr ~ I I L :  ~ossessioii, and ftirther went on to say that Bokhdra 
tc1,ritorirs \\,Iiiclr I I V  now c-lnims, wlricl~ ndlnitS these c!ninls. Ill  the event Boklldra or 
ljokhilrl~ Iicr.scI(' adlllits to 1 1 ~  Ilis, k c .  :In>- other country questioning the right of the Amir 
at  any f'ut1u.e timc, tlic Envoy wishcd it to bc underst~ood that the settlement of the 
bound:\ry is final, and that any futurc objection ~vhich might be made to it should not 
afford an opcning for :I reconsideration of the qnes~ion. 

Attsu.er.-The territories referred to were now recognized by England and Russia as 
being in  t,hc actual pos~ohsion of t l ~ c  :lnlir of' Afgi~:inistdn. The  admission of Bokhhra 
as to the c l a i~ l~  was qr1otc.d :LS cvitlcncc in tlle An~ir 's  favor, and as strengthening his 
casc. Now th:rt, the l)ounda~.j~ has been actually accepted by Russia, no objections on 
the part of Ijokhlira or any other country can be entertained. 
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3. The Envoy observed that the rccent correspondence betreen the ~ ~ ~ l i ~ h  and 
Russinn Governments regardi~~p the northern boundaries of Afghlnisthn no assurances on the part of Russia against ag~ression on Afgll~nist:ill. 

A~trwer.-The recent correspondence referred to related ollly to the partieLllnr question 
as to what territories i~ctually 1)elonged to Afg.h:inistdn. The Russian assurances as to 
non-aggression have alrradg been fully quoted in the letters fro,m Lord M~~ to the 
Amir, and are, moreover, contained in the letters which are printed at length in the 
collection of gapers laid bcfore 1'alsliament, a complete copy of jVhich \ivi]l be furnished 
to the Envoy if he wished it. 

4. The  Envoy continued that rvhntever assurances the Rossis~ls rniGht gi\,e the 
would rely only on definite promises of assistance given by the British Gcvelvment, 
He  proaeeded to explain the dangers which were apprehended by Afgl1jnistlin in con- 
sequence of the rapid advanccs made by the Russiaris in Central Asia. rIl a year 
or two, he said, i i  was certain they would take possession of Merv, \Thereupon the 
Turkomhn tribes ~rou ld  take r e f ~ ~ g e  in the district of Badghies* acd the ncighbourhood 

of Herst. JVhen in Af'ghdn territory the TurkomAns, * T h o  ~ o r t h - m e s t  district of Afghan- 
i-tnn mntcred by the Rirer i\Ioorghab who know no other avocation but that of plunder, 
and its tributnries. ~ 0 u l d  certainly not forsake their predatory habits 

and would thus afford the Russiaus an excuse for 
calling on thc An~i r  to restrain them. No proper control call be exercised by the 
Amir on these wandering tribes, ant1 a demand mould then be made by Russia to 
a force to be cantoned in Badghies for the purpose of controlling them. Again, the 
Rnssians will certainly advance beyond Bokhdra and establish cantonments in Kerki, 
Charjooee, and other places near the Afghdn frontier ; and their next step will be to 
call upon the Kabul Government to enter illto engagements for facilitating trade, and 
for the establishment of a Russian mission and agents as in other countries. It would 
he ilnpossible for the Amir to accede to these requests, compliance with which would 
certainly lead to complications and troubles. In view then of' these apprehended dangers, 
the Envoy said it was the expectation of the people of Afghdnistdn that the British 
Government will attentively consider their situation anrl srlggest what reply should be 
made to the overtures of Russia, and at the same timc that the British Government will 
state definitely what assistance would be given to Afghinistdn in such an emergency. 

A,~szcer.-With regard to the fear of Russian interference with Afghdnistin, the 
explicit assurances already given should quiet the Amir's apprehensions. The other 
matters referred to are all events in the unknown future and n ~ a y  never occur. 111 

regard to them, therefore, no general directions could be laid down. If any of them 
were to occur, the advice to be given and the action to be taken would very much 
depend on the particular circumstances of the case. The  best preventive which the 
Secretary could suggest against thc appreliended darrge1.s was that there should be at 
the Court of the Amir a British Officer of hign standing, and in the full confidence 
of the Government of India, who could advise His Highness as to the circumstances 
of each case, and give advice with regard to the action which, in cases of emergency, it 
nlight be necessary to take till the Government of India could be communicated with. 
JVith regard to the location of Russian Agcnts in Afghrinist6n, the Envoy would learn 
froln the prillted papers that Prince Gortschakoff had expressed an opinion that, while 
he saw 110 objection to English Officers going to Kabul, he agreed with Lord Rlayo that 
liussian Agents should not do so. 

5. The  Envoy said that the Russians have annexcd territories close up to the frontiers 
of AfgbdnistQn, the Amir, believing the attitude they havc assumed to be thmatening 
to the peace of his territories, expects that the British Government will render him large 
present assistance in lnoney and arms so 3s to cnable him to strengthen his frontier 
This request of His Highness is grounded, moreover, on the promises made by Lord 
Lawrence and Lord Mayo. 

Alrszce~.-Tlle Secretary repjied that, in the absence of instructions from His Ex- 
cellency the Viceroy, he was unable to reply to the specific request preferred by the 
E ~ ~ ~ ~ .  Lord Mayo, in his letter to the Amir, dated 31st March 186% had said :- 

6 6  ~t is my wish, therefore, that Your Highness should comrnu~licnte frequently and 
freely lrith the Government of India and its Officers on all su1)jects of public 

I can assure Your Highness that any representation which you may make 
always be treated with consideration and respect." 

requests preferred by the Envoy rvould, thercforc, certainly be treated with 
consirlPrstion and respect by His Excellency the Viceroy, but the Secretary was 'lot iu 
a position to state what view would be taken of this particular request. 



6. T h e  Envoy next observed thnt, in Lord Granrille's letter of the 17th October 
1872, His Lordship hacl said, with reference to the tcrritories within the boundary now 
accepted, that the Amir " would have a right to defend these territories if invaded." 
This recognition of the Amir's right to defend his territories appeared, snid thc Envoy, 
to be qualified by  what the Viceroy said i i ~  the course of the conversation of the 
22th July with regard to the necessity for a reference to the Governtnent of India in 
case of invasion. T h e  Envoy, therefore, asked for an explicit explanation as to whether, 
in the event of a sudden invasion, thc Amir would be authorized to repel it a t  once. - 

d~,szoer.-Hostilities seldom, if ever, break out without some misunderstartding, 
which, before resort is had to arms, is generdly the subject of explanatio~l. I f  such 
misunderstanding were to arise, i t  would certainly be the duty of the Amir to seek the 
;lavice of the Britisli Government ; but  if, during the coursc of it ego ti at ion^, or a t  any 
othcr time, an actual invasion of His I-Iighness' tcn.ito~.ies were to taltc place, the 
Amir would assurcdly be at  liberty to adopt such Ia\vful measures as might be 
necessary for repelling it a t  once. 

7.  T h e  Envoy aslred that a written assurance might be given to hiin to the effect that  
if Russia or any State of Turltestan or elsewhere under Russian influence should commit 
an aggression on the Amir's territories, or shoultl otherwise annoy the Amir, the British 
Government ~vould consider such aggressor an encmy, and that they would promise to 
afford to the Amir promptly such assistance in nloney and arms as ~ n i g l ~ t  be reqtlired 
until the danger should be past or invasion repelled. Also, that if the Amir should be 
unable to cope single-hantled with the invader, that the British Government should 
promptly despatcll a force to his assistance by whatever route the A ~ n i r  might r e q ~ ~ i r e  
the same, the snid force to be einployed against the invader and to retrirn to Rritish 
territory when the invasion was repelled. No return for the assistance above-mentioned 
to be required by  the British Government from AfghhnistAn. Such assistance to be 
rendered solely out  of friendship to Afgl~hnistAn, and with the view of protecting the 
integrity of the frontier, so that the existing friendship of both countries should be 
maintained. 

A7zsloer.-The Secretary replied that he felt sure the British Government would never 
agree t o  assert in general terms that any one interfering with Afghhnisthn would be 
declared an enemy. Government must hold itself quite f'ree to decide what the circum- 
stances of each case might require. In regqrd to the question of assistance to 
AfghAniethn hc was unable to acid anything to the expressions used by His Excellency 
the Viceroy, by whom alone further exp1:lnation on the subject could be afforded to the 
Envoy. Doubtless, added the Secretary, much would depend upon two considerations, 
viz., (1st) that the Amir should fully and unreservedly have acceptcd and acted upon 
the advice of the British Government in his foreign relations ; and (2ndly) tlie circum- 
stances and extent of the iuvasion or interference. If assistance were given by the 
British Government it would doubtless be such as, in their opinion, would be sufficient 
to meet the circumstances of the case. 

8. T h e  Envoy represented that in the conversiition of the 12th July with His Excel- 
lency the Viceroy, invasion or s~gression on tlie part of the TurkomAns, Khiva, Bokhhra, 
and other countries under Russ~on influence, had been alluded to, but Russia had not 
been specifically mentioned. 

An.vwer.-There seems no objection to specify the case of an invasion by Russia in 
the paper to be eventually given to the Envoy. 

9. T h e  Envoy read ont a letter just received from Kabul, stating that the so11 of 
Koshatl Khan of RZerv had presented hi~nself before the Anlir on the part of the 
Turkornfins and teprcsentetl th:\t the Russians had sent a message to the Tekkeh tribe 
to say that the Turkomiios werc :In indepeudent people and had no recognized head, 
and all thnt they (the Itussians) required of thcm mas an unnlolested passage for their 
troops, in return for which they would mldcrtake to leave the tribes alone. The  
T1irkom:'cns had replied that they considcrcd the Ainir of Afghrinistiln as their head, 
and through tlic son of I<osh:~d I<h:iu they now professed their allegiance to the Amir, 
and asked his advice as to ~vhcther they should attack tllc Russians or allow them a free 
passage. The  l;n1.kornhn Envoy rcquircd an early answer, and the Amir was therefore 
desirous of ascel.tnining thc vicws of the British G o v e r ~ ~ ~ n e n t  before replying to him. 

A~zszue~..-Thc Seci.ctnry replied that the matter would be submitted for the con- 
sidct-ation of' His 1Sxcellency thc Viccroy. T h e  country of the Turkotn6ns lies beyond 
the recognized limits of Afghhnistiin. T h e  Russians have n just acd legitimate quarrei 
with the Khan of Klliva, to punish whom their troops wcre n~arclling tl~rough the 
Tekkch country. If tllc Amir thinks it necessary to give them advice ~t should he to 
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the etiect that thc Turkomilns should allow ail unmolested passage to the Russialls, illla 
in no way whiitevcr inte~fem with their oprrutiolls. The Russinn expe(litioll to Khivs, 
however, wns prohably by this time over, and the circun~st;inces were p r ~ b ; ~ b l ~  passed 
and gone under which the letter referred to hat1 been ~vritten. I t  would bc advisable 
for the Amir to abstain as far as possible froin intcrfercnce in the affairs of the Turko. 
mAns besond his frontier and to disclaim the proffered allegiance. While inaintaining 
with thein relations of peace, he should on no account assist the Turkomi,lls, or in any 
way countenance them in opposing the Russians. 

' rhe  Envoy then said (in answer to the Secretary's question) that he had no other 
explanations to ask 01. reprcsentatious to make on the queztion of the boundary ant1 tile 
general relations between the British Governlnent and AfghAnist,in. In regard to 
Seistan he wished for further time to consider the matter. ,'iccordingly Tuesday, the 
22nd, was fixed as the date for discussing Seistail matters. 

21-7-73. (Signed) P. D. H. 
21-7-73. (Signed) C. U. A. 

Enclosure 8 in No. 3. 

~ ~ I ~ ~ ~ ~ R A N I ~ u ~ ~  of ~ O N I ~ ; R S . ~ T I O N S  between the KABUL ENVOY 811d SECliETAnY on 
the 31st July and 1st August 1873. 

AT the interview of the 30th of July, His Excellency the Viceroy requested the 
Envoy to discuss with Mr. Aitchison the followillg :- 

(1.) The location in certain towns of Afghanistan of British officers as representatives 
of their Governtnent. 

(2.) The expectations of the Amir with regard to the present assistance to be rendered 
to Afghanistan for the purpose of strengthening that country against foreign 
aggression. 

(3.) The Illeasures that should be taken for strengthening the Seistan frontier, and the 
expectations of the Amir in connection therewith. 

As regards t h e  first, the E ~ ~ v o y  observed that without enquiring what are the motives 
of the British Government in desiring to locate their represe~ltatives in Afghanistan, he 
would, if required, state plainly what were his views on the subject. As the question 
had not previously been alluded to before his departure from Kahui, he had received no 
instructions on the subject, and could therefore only speak in his private capacity. 

The Secretary observed here, that before going any further, it wor~ld be as well that 
the Envrly sl~oultl clearly understand what is the object of the British Governnient i n  
wishing to locate their representatives i n  Afghanistan. In thc first place, therc is 
absolutely no intention whatever of exercising any interference in t l ~ c  internal affairs of 
Afghanistan, though, of course, if consulted, the British representative w,~uld t)c always 
ready l o  offer his advice to the Amir. The first object in view was to obtain accur.tte 
illformation on all matters affecting the external relations of Afghanistan. In the rccent 
correspondence regarding Seistao, for example, very contradict.ory acco~~nts  regartliug 
occurrences iu thnt pi-ovince were received from Pcraia and Afghanistan. It is very 
important, looking to tlle responsibilities which England l~as  now ondertsken, that 
accuraic information s h o ~ ~ l d  be obtained by the British Governmcut, and in  many cases 
British oficer on the spot could settle diffkrences which might otherwise give rise to 
serious co~nplicntions and dificulties. Again, ncither the British nor Huss~an Gove1.n- 
ments are in possessio~i of very accurate inforlnation regarding the recently defined 
northern boundaries of' Afghanistan. This was exemplified only the other day when a 
question arose regarding the Mir of Shignan. I t  is therefore very dcsirit1)le that n ~ r i t i ~ h  
oficcr should visit those l)ountlaries, so that Government may be in a positioll to rep]!' 
authori tat iv~lj  to any rcrcrence that ,nay arise on the ~11l)~ject. It muat also, the 

Secretary, be obrio~is tll:lt if a British officer of lligh rank, and well ncq~laintc(l wit11 the 
views and policy of thc 13riti.h (iovcrnment, was (lcputcd to li;ll)ol, thc Alllir wo~ll(l be 
able, in the er.ent of a111 cn,crpcncy arising, and rvhen a rcfercnce to intlin \v:ls illlllos- 
sible, to co~lsult thc officer, and feel assured that he was not acting in opposition t,o tllc 
wishes of the Britisn Govcrnment. 

The Envoy replied that he i~nderstoo(l the olrjcct of t,hr British Govenlln~llt, and, 
personally, was well a a n l r  of the advantapes that wod(l nccruc to -\fgllnnistall rrolll 
presence 01 '  their ~ . c p r e s c ~ ~ t i ~ t i v ~ ~ .  Speaking, hotvercr, na a fiiilld, nnrl i n  the interots 
both oi' his own and tllr British Government, he could not i.cco~nme~l(l tllat :I spccific 
request sholild be pretibrrcd to the ,\mir for British oficers to be stntiolled c ~ ~ ' ~ ~ ~ ~ ~  



given places. His reasons were the following :-Fi7.st, the Afghans are deploral)lJ. 
ignorant, and entertain an idea that the clcputation of British Agents is always a precursor 
to annexation. Seco)rdly, many proceedings of the Amir arc such as woul(l be dis- 
approved by the British ~ o v e r n m e n t .  Those who encourage the Amir in these \v\.oul~l 
be only too ready to sr~ggest to him that a British Agent would interfere to put  a stop to 
such proceedings. T l ~ i r d ( y ,  tl1el.e is a strong party a t  Kabul composcd of the members 
of !lost Maholned Khan's family, and of others in the confidence of the Amir, who :Ire 
strongly opposetl to  His Highness entering into intimate relations with thc British 
Government, which ~vonld have thc effect of stlengthening the Amir's hands in the 
adnlinistratioii of his coulltry. T h e  opportunity of these men is of course during :L weak 
administration and in unsettled times. 

Under the circumstances above mentioned, therefore, the Envoy was of opinion that 
to prefer a specific request to the Amir would give rise to mistrust and ~nisapprehension. 
H e  woultl, therefore, recommend that in a separate letter, of which he would be the 
bearer, it should be suggested to  the Amir that in view of the arrangements recently 
completed it would be highly desirable that a British Officer should insi~ect the western 
and northern boundaries of Afghanistan. T h a t  this Officer would p~oceed from 
Kandahar to the eastern extremity of the Northern Frontier, and, returning viri Kabul, 
wor~ld communicate with the Amir regarding frontier matters, This Officer might, 
when a t  Iiabul, have an cpportunily of ascertaining thc sentiments of the Amir with 
regard to the location of representatives, and might perhaps find that all dificulty had 
been removed. I f  necessary, however, the British Government might, on the return of 
such an Officer to India, again depute the salne or another Officer to confer with the 
Amir  regarding the results of the exarninatiorl of' the frontier. T h e  visits of these 
Officers would tarniliarise the Amir and the people of Afghanistan with the idea of 
receiving a permanent British representative, and eventu:~lly tile desired object might 
thus be attained. 

T h e  Secretary replied that the plan suggested by the Envoy appeared highly 
judicious, and he continued that the approaching deputation of a Mission to Yarkand 
&ff'orded a favourable opportunity for carrying out the suggestion. I t  had previously 
been in conte~nplation by Government to direct Mr. Forsyth to  retllrn to India vid 
BadaLshan ant1 Kabul, provided, of course, that the linlir had no objection to the 
measure. 

T h e  Eilvoy obser\.ed that as Mr. Forsyth's arrival in Afgh:uiistan ~~rou ld  pro1)abl.y not 
be for 1s months or two years, it woulrl be ad~isable  for the Britisll C;overnlnent in their 
own interests to avail d~emselves ot' the opportunity afforded by tlie recent boundary 
liegotiations to suggest that an Oficer should proceed a t  once vici I<and<~har to visit t l ~ e  
eastern and northern frontier, returnirlg by I<abul. 

T h e  Secretary then enquired whether, in tlie eve~l t  of hlr. Forsyth's hlission returning 
vici Badakshan, the Aniir worlld be a l~ le  to make the necessary arrangements for 
supplies, &LC., in t l ~ e  north-east extremity of his territories. T o  this the Envoy replied 
that in the absence of ally precise information rcg:lrding that portion o f  Afghanistan he 
could givc no specific assurance, but there woulrl bc 1)lcnt.y of' time before the leturn of 
the Mission to make all necessary enquiries. 

T h e  Secretary then suggested that the Amir might be asked to allow n. British 
Officer to ljroceed to that portion of the frontier viri Iinbul, in anticipation of the 
arrival of the Mission, in order to makc the necessary ar~*nngc.ments for tl~en). 

On the whole the 1':nvoy thought it bettcr that his p~cvious suggestion of an Officer 
going round by Kandaliar should bc carried out. If; on arrival at Kabul, this Ofirer 
found that the A ~ n i r  cntertaincd no 01:jection to  the location of an Envoy there or else- 
where, thcre would of course be equally no objection to the AIission returning viri 
Badak>lian. O n  the other hand, if' there were difficulties about the appointnient of' an 
Envoy, it would still be opcn to Government to allude to the return of thc Yarkand 
M~ssio~l  i l i l i  Badnkshan. He  would suggcst that in that case the Arnir slio~rld be 
addres\etl on this sat!ject in such a m:luner :is neither to i111ply tlie possibility of rcfi~sal 
of' pcr~nission, nor, on the othcr hand, as if the Alission would take that routc without 
permission. A t  thc sanic tirirc the ntivantagcs of defifiiug the Yarkand f ro~~ t i e r  in 
prolongation of that of Afgha~list:~n sl~ould b~: pointed out to the Alnir. 

Thc  E~lvoy prof'cssrd Ilimsclt' :u~xioiis alld \\.illing, I)otll in thc interest of llis own 
country ;ultl ot thc 131 itis11 (;overn~ncnt, to sccu~.c colnpliance \\it11 the wishes of the 
latter in this rcspcct. 1 le ~vould, after asccrtai~ring the sentiments of thc Amir, com- 
~niinicate, ~ t '  rerjuirctl, wit11 or \vithoirt the cognizance of tlie Vakil a t  Kabul. 

T h e  ~icxt  poiot d ~ h c ~ ~ s s e d  was that of the assistance to be given to the .Imir, and first, 
\\ it11 respect to thc aim\ :lslted for by I-Iis kIigliness, thc Envoy repeatcd the request 
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contained in the Kabol diaries, that the British Government 
sllpply the Amir wit11 20,000 stand of arms, and he laid particular stress on 5,000 Sniders being included 

in the number. As regards pecuniary assistance, the Envoy was unable to nalne anv 
specific sum, nnd he c o ~ l d  only say that the Amir entertained hopes of being 
:argely assisted in this respect. 

Next, with respect to the measures necessaq- for the defence of the Seistan frontier, 
the Envoy said that he was not in a position to  do more than give a very mugh estimate 
of thc expenditure required. H e  had already lncntio~led the necessity for a 
colony at Tarakoo, and garrisoning that place, as well as Nad Ali, Killa Fath. yor the irrigation of the lands destined to support that colony and the garrisolls it would be 
necessary to  excavate three canals leading from the Helmund to Tamkoo, Killa Fath, 
and to\\ri~rd~ C'hucku~lsoor. These would cost say ten lakhs. Then agaill the Tarakoo 
colonists would have to be paid their expenses to the colony, a ~ ~ d  for some tilne be 
supported by the Arnir. They would also require advances to build houses, and to 
purchase agic~il tural  implenlents and seed-grain. Altogether, perhaps, the measues 
neccqsary for the proper defence of the Seistan fiontier would cost probably some 30 or 
40 Iakhs. 

T h e  Secretary explained to the Envoy that, of course, the British Government could 
not undertnlte to find the amount necessary for carrying out these measures. With 
reference also to the proposed excavation of canals he reminded the Envoy that by tile 
arbitration no works are to be carried out on either side calculated to interfere with the 
requisite supply of water for irrigation on both banks of the Helmund. 

The Envoy, however, remarked, with reference to this point, that the water for 
20 such canals could be spared from the Helmund without decreasing the supply derived 
by Persia. 

The  Secretary then proceeded to say that Government were unable to share the 
a.ppl.chcnsions of aggression entertained by the A~nir ,  and would not encourage him to 
launch out into any large expenditure for the purpose of guarding against this con- 
tingency. A t  the same time they were desirous to see the AmPr strong, and were 
inclined to givc him any reasonable assistance with this object. He invited the Envoy 
to state spe~ifically his views in regard to thc amount of assistance expected by the 
,4nlil.. After considerable discussion, the Secretary informed the Elivoy that Govern- 
ment was prcpa~.ed to give the Amir, in addition to the arms which he had asked for, a 
present of ten lakhs in cash ; this amount to include the five lakhs pronlised in Poona 
for indcrnnlfying the sufferers from the Seistan raids. Five thousand stand of Enfield 
rifles lvould bc given at once, and the remaining arms, including 5,000 Sniders, would he 
ordered from England. 

TIle Envoy expressed an opiilioll that the Amir would not be satisfied with a present 
of 1 0  lakhs, which was so much below his expectations. Reing ~ressed to state what 
amount would fulfil those expectations, he named 20 lakhs, adding at the same tirne that 
he had no authority for na~ning this figure, which was his own idea of the amount 

. - 
required. 

The Secretary could hold out no hope of this amount being granted, but added that 
hc would subinit the matter for the orders of His Excellency the Viceroy. 

On the 1st August the Secretary informed the Envoy that he had taken the orders 
of the Viceroy on the question of the pecuniary assistance to Afghanistan, and that His 
Excellency had exprcrsecl inability to  offer a larger sum than 15 lakhs in all, including 
the valuc of the arms to be presented to the Amir. The question had been considered 
by His Excellency in a spirit of the utmost friendliness towards Afgh~lnistau, and, looking 
hoth to the r~ecessities of that country and the condition of the Inclian finances, it was 
not considered necessary to fix a higher amount. 

The Euvojr \rrns thcu informed in reply to his inquiries that 5 lalths of the 10 was to 
be consitlered as a contribution towards the amount to be paid to the Seistan sufferers, 
and another 5 lnkhs was to be considel.ed as a contribution towards the general ex 

p e a n x s  of thc Amir, which the AmIr might, if he thought f i r ,  expend in arrangements 01 the 
settlement of Seistan, or otherwise as he thought best. I t  was probable that the value 
of the arms would 1,e about 4 Iakhs, and any l)alance, tllerefore, that migl~t remain from 
the other i lakhs would be sent to Afghanistan with the arms. If the 1invo.y con*idcrt'd 
it advisal~le orders would be a t  once given to have 10 lakhs ready at I'esl~a\far to t)e - 
forwarded to Kabul. 

At  the conclusion of thc second interview the Secretnry brought to the notice of Syad 
Nur Muhanlmad the conduct of Nowroz Khan, of Lalpurs, in the matter of AI:~RII Khall, 
who in the year 18.52 had attacked the F I u s h t n ~ ~ g a r  'I'ahsil and murdered the l'ahsildn" 
and other officials. Since that event Arjitn Khan had heen an outla\v, and was 0111' 



llcard of at intervals as a wauderer between Jellalabad and Swat, until the beg i l~n iu~  of 
lust year, 1872, when he made an attempt to setlle l~iiiiself at a place called Spinkwari, 
in the Ranizai countiy. The men of Totai and other Ranizai villages turned out :~nd 
threw up for him the walls of two towers and sevel-a1 llouses. The settlement, of srlch 
a character on the British border being highly objectionable and dangerous to the peace 
of the border, the Ranizai Jirga were called to account by the British authorities, and 
shortly after the settlement was, in consequence, attacked and destroyed by the Uthmall 
Khels of' Prangar. It had recently been reported to Government that Nowroz Khan had 
called on the Uthman Khels to pay blood-money for the men killed in the attack on 
Spinkwari and to rebuild the fort and Lamlet. The Secretary, thcrefore, requested that 
the matter inight be enquired into on the EUVOY'S return. 

The  Envoy replied that he knew something of tile facts of the case, and would make 
such arrangements on his return to Afghanistan as would in  all probability insure a 
prompt and satisfactory settlenlent in future of a11 frontier matters between the British 
authorities and Nowroz Khan. 

The Envoy made a special request thal the present conr-ersation; should be considered 
as absolutely confidential. 

P. D. H. 
C. U. A. 
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